
 

City of Corunna 
Regular Council Meeting 

Monday, February 1, 2010 
 

Present: Mehigh, Jessen, Reichert, Haskins, Sarrazin.  
 
Absent: Johnson (excused). 
 
Guests: Joe Sawyer, City Manager; Judy Horton; Donna Kerridge; Janet Washburn; Sharon & 

Bob Morehouse; Helen Granger, The Independent; Gary Granger; and other 
concerned citizens. 

 
The meeting was called to order in the council chambers of Corunna City Hall by Mayor Kerridge at  

7:00 p.m. 
 
MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS REGULAR MEETING:  Jessen moved, Sarrazin seconded to  

approve the previous regular meeting minutes dated January 19, 2010 as presented. 
Roll call vote: 

 Yes: Jessen, Reichert, Haskins, Sarrazin, Mehigh. 
 No: None. 
    Motion CARRIED 
 
AGENDA APPROVAL:  Jessen moved, Reichert seconded to approve the agenda with the  

following changes:  Move Item 1 to 1B and add Item No. 1) Introduction of New Police 
Officers and Item No. 1A) Consider Excusal of Councilperson Johnson From Council 
Meeting Due to Illness.  
Roll call vote: 
Yes: Reichert, Haskins, Sarrazin, Mehigh, Jessen. 
No: None. 
  Motion CARRIED 

  
APPROVAL OF VENDOR DISBURSEMENTS:  Sarrazin moved, Jessen seconded to approve the  
 vendor disbursements dated January 26, 2010 as presented.   

Roll call vote: 
Yes: Haskins, Sarrazin, Mehigh, Jessen, Reichert. 
No: None.   

 Motion CARRIED 
 
CALL TO AUDIENCE:  Janet Washburn from the City of Owosso addressed the council on several  

items.  She advised she held a card party twice on month in the lower level of the community 
center for several years.  It became apparent to her this year that it could not be held this year 
due to the community center reconstruction so she informed Mr. Sawyer that she would not 
be able to hold it there this year, but it was not due to her being unwilling to do it or that she 
was no longer employed by the City of Corunna.  It was just a matter of circumstance that 
prevented her from doing it.  Ms. Washburn stated she wanted to talk about World War II.  
There were 19 men living on Oliver Street who left to fight in the war and two of them did not 



 

come home.  She knows there was discussion about who should be included on the monument 
in McCurdy Park, but 19 men from Corunna are on that monument and it is recognition of the 
valor, honesty and integrity of those living in Corunna who protected our country.  She also 
stated she had a dear friend who passed away and an Austrian pine tree was planted in the 
park in her memory.  This summer she drove by the tree and she does not know what 
happened to it.  All of the branches have been stripped from it and she is appalled by how the 
tree looks.   
 

INTRODUCTION OF NEW POLICE OFFICERS:  Chief Kim Williams introduced the new police 
officers, Tim Applegate and Dan Ray, to the city council.  Council welcomed them to the city.    

 
CONSIDER EXCUSAL OF COUNCILPERSON JOHNSON FROM COUNCIL MEETING DUE  

TO ILLNESS:  Jessen moved, Reichert seconded to excuse Councilperson Johnson from the 
council meeting due to illness. 
Roll call vote: 
Yes: Haskins, Sarrazin, Mehigh, Jessen, Reichert. 
No: None. 
  Motion CARRIED 

 
CONSIDER APPOINTMENT OF STEPHANIE SAMEK TO THE FOREST MANAGEMENT  

COMMISSION:  Jessen moved, Sarrazin seconded to appoint Stephanie Samek to the Forest 
Management Commission with term to expire December 31, 2012 and serving at the pleasure 
of the council.   
Roll call vote: 
Yes: Sarrazin, Mehigh, Jessen, Reichert, Haskins. 
No: None. 
  Motion CARRIED 

 
CONSIDER APPOINTMENT OF DARREN DEESE TO THE CORUNNA PARKS AND  

RECREATION COMMISSION:  Jessen moved, Sarrazin seconded to appoint Darren Deese 
to the Corunna Parks and Recreation Commission for an indefinite term and serving at the 
pleasure of the council.   

 Roll call vote: 
 Yes: Jessen, Reichert, Mehigh, Sarrazin, Haskins. 
 No: None. 
   Motion CARRIED 

 
CONSIDER COMPUTER PURCHASE FOR DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS:   

Councilperson Sarrazin stated he noticed while looking at the computer specifications that the 
operating system was Windows 7 and asked if the city had any experience with that system.  
Mr. Sawyer advised no.  Councilperson Sarrazin asked if that was a good choice.  Ms. 
Lawson advised she did not think that would be an issue on the programs Mr. Crawford uses.  
Mr. Sawyer asked Councilperson Reichert if he had any experience with Windows 7.  
Councilperson Reichert advised very limited.  He asked if the BS&A software would work on 
Windows 7.  Ms. Lawson advised she thought so.  Mr. Sawyer stated there is a desire for Mr. 
Crawford to be able to view accounts payable records to see if something has already been 



 

paid and he would double check with BS&A to see if it would be compatible.  Mr. Sawyer 
further stated this is on the agenda because it is an unbudgeted computer purchase and 
explained Mr. Crawford’s computer has died.  He explained no budget amendment would be 
needed.  Ms. Cowdrey asked what Windows version should be ordered.  Councilperson 
Reichert advised Windows 7 as long as the BS&A software works with it.  He further advised 
he noticed a three-year warranty was available for $55 and thought this would be money well 
spent.  Reichert moved, Jessen seconded to approve the purchase of a computer for the 
department of public works in the amount of $823.00 which includes the $55.00 three-year 
warranty cost.   

 Roll call vote: 
 Yes: Reichert, Jessen, Sarrazin, Haskins, Mehigh. 
 No: None. 
   Motion CARRIED 
 
CONSIDER URBAN REVITALIZATION 3.0 GRANT PROGRAM 2010:  Mr. Sawyer advised this  

type of grant has never been brought to the council before because the city has never qualified 
for it in the past.  County seats that are low mod such as Corunna now qualify for the urban 
revitalization grant.  There is only $400,000 available that will be extremely competitive 
since there are over 150 communities that are eligible.  He further advised the minimum grant 
amount is $30,000 and the maximum amount is $100,000.  He met with Joe Martin from the 
MEDC last week to find out what it can or cannot be used for.  They are looking for small and 
high visibility projects.  The community center is one that comes to mind so he is trying to see 
if funds can be used on that project.  He stated the bad news is that the state will not allow any 
money to be used for interior work.  There is about $60,000 worth of outside work that needs 
to be done to the community center.  He has met with several contractors and he is fairly 
confident that every window in the building can be replaced, and the entry way exterior and 
façade can be finished.  He brought this to council because he does not want to go through the 
effort of applying for the grant if match money is not going to be available for it.  He was not 
asking for money at this point but wanted guidance from council if this is something the city 
should pursue.  He has pictured advancing the committee another $25,000 once the first 
advance is paid off.  The top priority is putting heat in the lower level of the building, but 
there is electrical work and insulation that needs to be done before heating can be installed.  
Replacing the lower level windows is a high priority and installing, finishing and painting 
drywall also needs to be done.  The upper level bathrooms need to be renovated to create 
handicap accessibility.  If the city is successful in getting the grant, he would recommend 
advancing another $50,000 because this amount plus the $20,000 from the DDA would be 
enough money to do the inside and outside work.  He explained the lower level windows, 
entry way siding and lighting would be eligible for the grant since they are exterior.  He asked 
council if this is something that the city should pursue.  The grant application deadline is 
March 5 and the conceptual drawings will have to be redone which should cost around $500, 
but he does not want to do anything if he feels council does not want to make the attempt.  
Councilperson Jessen stated the only money that is being requested is another loan like the 
one before based on the grant approval.  Mr. Sawyer advised he is not asking for any money 
right now.  Councilperson Jessen stated the first loan worked out alright.  Mr. Sawyer advised 
the city has not been paid off yet and he hopes this will be done this month.  He has had 
people down to the community center to give estimates on a furnace and the drywall issues.  



 

He is collecting numbers to put a plan together and he is anticipating that the committee is not 
going to have the same success like they did the first go around by raising $50,000 in six 
months, which is phenomenal.  The calendar sale was successful and all 1,000 calendars were 
sold, which is a $12,000 fundraiser.  In order to be conservative and to make sure the city is 
not overextending itself or over working the committee, his recommendation when it gets to 
that point is to give the committee a $25,000 loan and give them two years to pay it back, 
which will be two calendar sales.  If the committee is loaned $50,000, he would recommend 
giving them four years to pay it back.  Councilperson Haskins asked if the city should pursue 
the grant and if the city is obligated to use the grant if the city gets it.  Mr. Sawyer advised not 
until the city takes the money and spends it.  He further advised there is a lot of work in going 
after a grant, and if there is not going to be a willingness to match the grant or spend $25,000 
or $30,000 to do the furnace and inside work then the city staff should not waste their time.  
Ms. Lawson stated there were seven grants awarded last year but only two communities 
followed through with it.  The city has had a good success rate with the MEDC and when the 
city files for a grant it usually has a project that it will qualify for.  Mr. Sawyer advised he 
knows the city has a good project.  If the DDA boundaries had not been extended to include 
the park, the city would not have been able to apply for this grant.  Councilperson Haskins 
stated as common courtesy to the committee the city should apply for the grant because they 
have not dropped the ball at all.  Councilperson Jessen asked when the grant deadline was.  
Mr. Sawyer advised the application has to be in by March 5.  Councilperson Sarrazin asked 
where the front money would come from if the city was to loan another $50,000.  Mr. Sawyer 
advised the last loan was borrowed from the city’s fund balance.  There is money available in 
the city’s fund balance and municipal building fund.  Councilperson Sarrazin stated the city 
needs to be made whole on the first loan, but if the committee is putting a good faith effort to 
pay the first loan back, there is no reason for council to doubt that they will pay back the 
second, third or fourth loan.  Mr. Sawyer stated he did not know how much money the council 
would be willing to advance the committee, but advised $50,000 would be needed if the city 
applies for the grant.  Councilperson Sarrazin advised he would not be willing to extend 
anything beyond that amount.  He suggested creating a revolving fund in the future to fund 
projects like this.  Councilperson Jessen asked Councilperson Sarrazin if he wanted to set up a 
fund to give the committee the money or lend it to them.  Councilperson Sarrazin advised he 
was suggesting creating a revolving fund that special interest groups could borrow from to 
fund their project because a big pile of money is often needed to begin a project.  Mr. Sawyer 
advised the city has a parks improvement fund, but it does not have enough in it to do the 
projects that are being done to the community center.  Councilperson Jessen stated he did not 
know if a motion was needed to go forward with the grant.  Mr. Sawyer advised he felt the 
consensus of the council was to proceed with the grant.  Councilperson Jessen stated that was 
his feeling.                               
 
 
 
 

CALL TO AUDIENCE:  Bob Morehouse stated he is a new member on the planning commission 
and  



 

the commission is looking at creating a wind power ordinance.  The commission has had 
many lectures on wind power that have been very beneficial.  He encouraged everyone to 
read any information they come across on wind power. 
 

ROUNDTABLE DISCUSSION:  Councilperson Reichert asked if Mr. Sawyer has heard anything  
about the dam letter.  Mr. Sawyer advised no.  He would suspect that the DEQ will send the 
information to their attorney.  The city attorney was sent a copy of the letter and he thought it 
was wonderful.  The city will have to wait and see if anything happens. 

 
 Councilperson Haskins advised he had nothing to discuss. 
 

Councilperson Sarrazin stated at the last planning commission meeting, Phil Hathaway, gave 
a presentation on wind power.  The commission is gathering realistic information on 
regulating wind power.  If anyone has anything they like or dislike about wind power they 
should drop it off to Ms. Lawson. 

 
 Councilperson Jessen advised he had nothing to discuss. 
 
 Councilperson Mehigh advised he had nothing to discuss. 
 

Mayor Kerridge stated he is still getting a lot of comments on the Corunna Avenue lights.  
People are telling him how wonderful the lights are.  He further stated he is going to keep a 
positive attitude on the grant application. 
 

ADJOURN:  Jessen moved, Reichert seconded to adjourn. 
 Roll call vote: 
 Yes: Reichert, Mehigh, Jessen, Haskins, Sarrazin. 

No: None. 
  Motion CARRIED  Time was 7:50 p.m.     
 

 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Charles Kerridge, Mayor    Nichole L. Cowdrey, City Clerk/Treasurer 
 


